ALONG THE WAY:

A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY OF PRINCIPALS' EXPERIENCES AND PERCEPTIONS OF MENTORING RELATIONSHIPS

by

Colleen Gregory

Bachelor of Education, University of Alberta, 2000

Bachelor of Arts, University of Manitoba, 1998

MAJOR PAPER SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF

THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF EDUCATION (EDUCATIONAL LEADERSHIP AND MENTORSHIP)

In the Teacher Education Department

© Colleen Gregory 2021

UNIVERSITY OF THE FRASER VALLEY

2021

All rights reserved. This work may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without permission of the author.

Approval

Name: Colleen Gregory **Degree:** Master of Education (Educational Leadership and Mentorship) Title: Along the Way: A Phenomenological Study of Principals' Experiences and Perceptions of Mentoring Relationships **Examining Committee:** Name: Dr. Awneet Sivia MEd Chair or Designate, Teacher Education Department Name: Dr. Mary Gene Saudelli Senior Supervisor Associate Dean, Faculty of Professional Studies Name: Dr. Nikki Yee Second Reader **Educational Consultant**

Date Defended/Approved: June 7, 2021

Abstract

The focus of this research study was to examine the lived experiences and perceptions of principals with mentoring relationships and the influence of these relationships on their values, leader identity development, and preparation for formal leadership. This included reviewing literature in the areas of mentorship, identity development, and leader preparation. A qualitative phenomenology methodology studied the research question of: What are the perceptions and experiences of principals with mentoring relationships in the K – 12 school system and how have these relationships influenced their values and identity development? Data were gathered using semi-structured interviews of four participants. Data analysis included in vivo and values coding. The interpretation of the results arrived at three themes: Mentoring in Place and Space; Trusting Relationships; and Guiding Mentorship. These themes add to the literature a description of what strong mentorship looks like and how influential mentoring connects to servant leadership theory. The findings recognize the diversity of values held by principals and offer support for informal mentorship within K-12 schools. The interconnectedness of mentoring and leading is discussed and has implications for how principals can engage in mentoring relationships.

Keywords: aspiring principal mentorship, mentoring relationships, leader identity, servant leadership theory

Acknowledgements

I have learned that mentors can appear when needed, and this has been true for me here. I extend my deepest gratitude to Dr. Mary Gene Saudelli for being the Supervisor I needed alongside me as I engaged in this research project. She brought all the magic of mentorship to guide me – encouragement, challenge, vision, empowerment and offers of wise and kind words at every point along the way.

I offer my warmest appreciation to Dr. Nikki Yee for supporting my writing as the Second Reader. She guided my thinking and communicated genuine curiosity and thoughtfulness from her very first question. I am thankful for her careful reading of my work and for teaching me so much more about the craft of writing. She offered ways to make my writing clearer, stronger, and more inviting to readers.

I am grateful to the principals who participated in this study and willingly shared their time, experiences, and wisdom. They each contributed to key findings in this research. I will continue to learn from them in my work of mentoring and leading as I reflect on what they shared with me. The values they each bring to their leadership are gifts to those they serve.

I wish to acknowledge Dr. Awneet Sivia, Dr. Sheryl MacMath, Ian Levings, Alison Davies, and the late Michael Woods for leading me in what has been an extraordinary learning experience. I am grateful to have learned *with* and *from* all the inspiring people in our cohort. This lovely collection of MEd students, staff, and experiences has encouraged my heart and energized my mind.

Table of Contents

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Introduction	1
Purpose	1
Context	2
Research Questions	3
Scholarly Significance	4
Literature Review	5
Benefits of Mentorship	5
Types of Mentorship	6
Formal Mentorship	6
Informal Mentorship	7
Quality of the Mentoring Relationship	8
Mentor-Mentee Pairing	8
Trust and Strength	9
Characteristics of Good Mentors	10
Emerging Leader Identity	11
Summary of Key Findings from the Literature	12
Theoretical Framework	12
Servant Leadership Theory	12
Methodology	14
Method	15
Bracketing	17

Data Sources	18
Data Tools	20
Data Analyses	22
Results	24
Mentoring in Place and Space	24
Colleagues as Mentors	25
Multiple Mentorship	26
Building Relationships	27
Being Seen	30
Trusting Relationships	32
Trust in the Support	32
Challenge, Risk, & Growth	34
Believing In	36
How to Be	37
Guiding Mentorship	38
Mentor as Guide	38
Heart & Mind	39
3 Es of Guiding Mentorship	41
Discussion	44
Mentoring in Place and Space	45
Trusting Relationships	47
Guiding Mentorship	48
Limitations	51
Implications and Recommendations	52

Possibilities	54
References	56
Appendix A	63
Appendix B	64

Introduction

I am an experienced elementary teacher, a servant mentor, and an inspired teacher leader. Next to educating and guiding children in their learning, I value the mentorship and leadership I have engaged in throughout my teaching years. I have had many positive and influential mentoring relationships, both as a mentee and as a mentor. I believe these relationships have contributed to my ongoing growth as an educator, a mentor, and a leader. Having mentors along the way who believed in me, and nurtured my developing identity, has been instrumental to my interest in formal educational leadership opportunities. I believe many essential values are present in my mentorship and teacher leadership and have learned that my core values are community and authenticity. I admire mentors and leaders who have been distinguished in my experiences who serve with wisdom, humility, and listening leadership. I believe these are hallmarks of successful leaders in the context of schools and school districts today.

Purpose

As an educator interested in pursuing formal leadership roles, I am curious about the experiences of others and how mentorship for teachers along the way to formal educational leadership roles has influenced what they value and how their leader identity has developed. My relationships with mentors have given my career in education momentum and direction towards leadership. I wonder if this is true for others? I believe a sense of belonging, community, and strong relationships are necessary for teaching. I am curious how educators in the role of principal hold on to what they believe to be important about teaching and leading.

The purpose of this qualitative study is not about finding *the* answers. It is to have a deeper understanding of a person and their lived experiences with mentorship and identity development. The findings of this inquiry will likely lead to even more questions. Yet, I hope

that it demonstrates what is significant and influential about mentoring relationships that occur along ones' way to leadership. The study aims to understand the experiences of principals with their mentoring relationships and how they perceive the influence of these relationships. How have their mentoring relationships nurtured their leader identity and prepared them for principalship? What are their attitudes, values, and beliefs about mentorship and leadership?

Context

This phenomenological study is concerned with the lived experiences of principals.

According to the British Columbia Principals and Vice Principals Association (BCPVPA, 2021), the central role of a school administrator is to enhance student achievement. The BCPVPA's Code of Professional Practice (2021) highlights eight ways principals and vice-principals can be effective in this role:

- Pursue professional growth and development
- Provide effective instructional leadership
- Develop a school vision
- Interpret and implement curriculum
- Organize and manage school programs and resources effectively
- Establish positive community relations
- Develop positive interpersonal relations
- Create and foster a positive school culture

In this research, I consider how principals prepare for formal leadership in response to the complexity of the role.

I have been involved in teacher leadership from the beginning of my career and assumed that I would want to transition from teaching to leading formally one day. My experiences with

leadership were often inspired and guided by my mentoring relationships. In many ways, I feel ready to act on my aspirations for working as a principal. Yet, I wonder how principals stay true to who they are and what they fundamentally value and believe to be true about teaching, learning, and leading? This research matters to me because I care deeply about being a passionate, authentic, and competent leader who ensures care for all people in the learning community. Student-centered leadership is the work of principals. I believe principals can best improve students' educational experiences by supporting and taking care of the adults who support and take care of the children. Stronger schools can be created by learning how mentorship supports leadership preparation and identity development. I see the route the principal travels to be full of unexpected bumps and adventures, varied landscapes, and sometimes even loneliness while driving the bus. I have questions about how principals are navigating these roads, how mentoring relationships have offered directions, and what principals have learned along the way.

Research Questions

I am approaching my research through the constructivist paradigm (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2007) to develop a deeper understanding of my guiding inquiry question: What are the perceptions and experiences of principals with mentoring relationships in the K – 12 school system and how have these relationships influenced their values and identity development? The key sub-questions guiding data collection for this research study are: (a) What are the lived experiences of principals with mentoring relationships? (b) How do principals describe their values and identities? (c) What perceptions do principals have of mentoring relationships influencing their values and identities? (d) How have mentoring relationships prepared principals for a role in formal leadership?

I will examine these questions within a qualitative phenomenological study. As phenomenology (Creswell & Poth, 2018) is concerned with the lived experiences of a smaller sample of participants, this type of inquiry is best suited to exploring four principals' experiences with mentoring relationships and identity development.

Scholarly Significance

This research is significant because mentorship and leadership, particularly in K – 12 education settings, have been underexplored (Crippen & Wallin, 2008; York-Barr & Duke, 2004). The literature offers a broader array of research findings and resources when looking at mentoring relationships in business, nursing, and graduate school. K – 12 schools are unique environments and therefore require study in these settings. Additionally, the concept of identity and its importance is popular in both mainstream and educational culture and warrants more rigorous investigation.

The importance of this research is in how it will answer questions about mentoring relationships that support teacher leaders, aspiring principals, and principals in the role. I examine principals' perspectives to discover how leader identities are influenced and developed through mentorship. This study can guide approaches for including strong mentoring relationships in leadership preparation programs. It offers valuable insight into the functions of mentorship and leadership and how they connect and co-exist.

School communities and mentorship programs benefit from participants sharing their lived experiences. Insights and understandings emerge about mentoring relationships and identity development for teachers interested in leadership and leaders in the role. This research will benefit the research community in adding to the existing research in mentorship, leadership, and identity development.

Literature Review

The positive influence of mentorship on professionals as they prepare for new roles has been widely documented and is also true in educational settings (Daloz, 1999; Fullan & Hargreaves, 2000; Palmer, 1998; Clayton et al., 2013). A 'mentor' is one who "shares their wisdom, experience, and expertise" with others, and the person they are mentoring is a 'mentee' (Sharpe & Nishimura, 2017, p. 3). Research in formal and informal mentorship, mentoring relationships, mentor characteristics, leadership preparation, and leader identity development examined aspiring and new leaders' experiences with mentorship (E.g., Parfitt & Rose, 2020; Clayton et al., 2013; Crippen & Wallin, 2008). Most of the research examined in these areas was qualitative: interviews, narratives, case studies, and open question surveys (E.g., Crippen & Wallin, 2008; Carver, 2016; Bertrand et al., 2018). Ideas drawn from a review of this literature included: benefits of mentorship, types of mentorship, quality of mentoring relationships, characteristics of *good* mentors, and emerging leader identity.

Benefits of Mentorship

The first idea to emerge from the literature includes the benefits of mentorship: reflection, learning, and connection. Mentors can have a powerful impact on mentees' awakening and deep learning about who they are (Palmer, 1998). Personal and professional mentors can have positive and long-lasting impacts, such as helping mentees learn to be reflective practitioners and critical thinkers (Crippen & Wallin, 2008). Mentors and mentees benefit from a relationship that provides opportunities to share, reflect, and participate in professional learning together (Ehrich et al., 2004). A benefit for mentees is learning from mentors about how to adapt to the expectations of their new leadership position (Clayton et al., 2013). The purpose of mentorship in leadership preparation is for an experienced leader and a new leader to collaborate to

ultimately promote student achievement (Daresh, 2004). Although mentoring is one of the more effective ways to enhance leadership, what *good* mentoring looks like is less prevalent (Grissom & Harrington, 2010). Mentorship includes reflection, connection, and learning as benefits for both mentor and mentee, and different types of mentorship are available for aspiring formal leaders.

Types of Mentorship

The second idea to emerge from the literature involved types of mentorship. Formal and informal mentorship are two types of mentoring prevalent in the literature. Formal mentorship brings mentors and mentees together, typically for mentee learning and support in relationships where the organization establishes the mentor-mentee pairing and the responsibilities of their roles (Mentoring Complete, 2019; Parfitt & Rose, 2020). Informal mentorship is a relationship between individuals who mutually decide to work together to learn from the other and learn together (James et al., 2015). Informal mentorship has little structure and specified goals. Mentor and mentees choose each other based on compatibility, and informal relationships often result in long-term mentoring (Mentoring Complete, 2019). Both types of mentoring relationships are recommended for those aspiring and preparing for formal leadership roles (Zepeda et al., 2012).

Formal Mentorship

Formal mentorship has many benefits for preparing aspiring and new principals. There has been an increase in formal district mentoring programs as leadership preparation programs have become more popular (Skinner, 2009). The Great Lakes Teacher Leadership Academy (Carver, 2016) and The Administrator Mentor Project (Bertrand et al., 2018) are intensive, two-year programs that support formal mentorship designed to prepare leaders to positively impact student achievement. Participants described their experience in preparation programs as

transformational (Carver, 2016), and a priority of these was building tailored and trusting relationships (Bertrand et al., 2018). There were high expectations for mentors in these formal leadership preparation programs. Expectations included: guiding and coaching, reflective questioning, focusing on competencies, balancing challenge and support, and encouraging problem-solving (Bertrand et al., 2018). There is a concern for formal mentorship when the mentor is also serving in a supervisory role to the mentee. Specifically, these roles may act as barriers to mentors building an emotionally connected relationship with mentees (Collins-Camargo & Kelly, 2007). Formal mentorship has benefits and prepares principals when programs are well-designed, prioritize trusting relationships, and encourage reflection.

Informal Mentorship

Informal mentorship offers many benefits not found in formal mentorship. The relationships formed between a mentor and mentee in informal mentorships are strong because they develop from a shared connection. "The most valuable relationships almost always occur when an intrinsic connection is made on a personal, rather than a formally imposed, level" (Crippen & Wallin, 2008, p. 563). Informal mentoring is significant in preparing for leadership and allows mentees to choose their mentors based on the skillset they feel needs developing (Parfitt & Rose, 2020). "You have to go out and search for people who are willing to invest in you and help build you to be what you need to be" (Parfitt, 2017, p. 106). As a result, program and school district leaders encourage individuals aspiring to formal leadership to look for informal mentoring opportunities as part of their preparation (Bengtson et al., 2013).

Furthermore, essential factors of informal mentorships are convenient interactions and a high degree of comfort and trust for the mentee and mentor in the relationship (Parfitt, 2017; Scott,

2010). The possibilities of choice, developing trust, and mutual learning in informal mentorship suggest the relationship qualities aspiring leaders require to be successful.

Quality of the Mentoring Relationship

The third idea to emerge from the research centered on attributes of effective mentoring relationships: they were created with consideration to appropriate pairing, founded on trust, and included facets of strength.

Mentor-Mentee Pairing

A prevalent theme in the literature is the mentor-mentee pairing as crucial to a successful mentoring relationship (Bertrand et al., 2018; Clayton et al., 2013; Scott, 2010; Simon et al., 2019). Palmer (1998) writes, "Mentoring is a mutuality that requires more than meeting the right teacher: the teacher must meet the right student" (p. 21). Mentees appreciated when those responsible for the matching process of mentors and mentees paid careful attention to communication styles, responsibilities of positions, and previous experiences with mentoring (Clayton et al., 2013). Brown (2010) found strength in relationships comes from connection defined as, "the energy that exists between people when they feel seen, heard, and valued: when they can give and receive without judgment" (p. 19). Pairing mentees with mentors from outside their district provided an outside perspective when problem-solving and allowed mentees to be free from supervisory pressure (Bertrand et al., 2018). Similarly, it is important to carefully match mentors with mentees. Some mentees perceived their mentor to be unapproachable and felt their requests for support were a burden to their mentor (Scott, 2010). The process of selecting mentors in leadership preparation is an important consideration. There is a concern when it leads to maintaining and reinforcing the status quo, mainly through the practice of excluding potential mentors who may be under-represented in leadership (Sherman, 2005).

Focusing on personalities, styles, needs, benefits, and implications is significant in mentormentee pairing to develop a strong mentoring relationship.

Trust and Strength

Trust and strength define the quality of the mentoring relationship in the literature. Trust in mentoring relationships is a necessary foundation for a mentor and mentee to successfully work together and was the number one expectation in the formal mentorship programs examined (Bertrand et al., 2018; Parfitt and Rose, 2020; Scott, 2010; & Ragins, 2016). A trusting relationship included vulnerability and one where the mentee perceived the mentor as benevolent, open, reliable, honest, and competent (Bertrand et al., 2018). Trust between a mentor and mentee was the most prevalent source of strength found in mentoring relationships.

Mentorships support the kinds of strong relationships that are critical to professional cultures in schools (Fullan & Hargreaves, 2000; Crippen, 2004). Strong relationships are characterized as those that emphasize collaboration and shared leadership and improve teaching, learning, and caring (Fullan & Hargreaves, 2000; Crippen, 2004; Simons, 2020). In addition, opportunities for reflection and feedback, a focus on personal and collective growth, and a spirit of flexibility and adaptability all contributed to a strong mentoring relationship (Bertrand et al., 2018; Donaldson, 2009; Lester et al., 2011; Simons, 2020; Zepeda, 2012). Meaningful mentorships were perceived when mentees believed that their mentors were critical friends who had genuine care for their "professional growth and personal well-being" and were confident in their abilities (Malen & Brown, 2020, p. 491). Empowerment and believing in mentees added strength to mentoring relationships and gave the mentoring process a humanizing quality (Hansman, 2012; Malen & Brown, 2020). Aspiring leaders who entered mentorship relationships with pre-existing confidence perceived their relationship to be less close than those who were

building confidence (Scott, 2010). Regardless of the mentorship function, the quality of the relationship contributed to higher self-efficacy amongst aspiring and new leaders (Chopin, 2013). A highly effective mentoring relationship prepares principals for leadership where trust and strength from empowering mentors are present.

Characteristics of Good Mentors

The fourth idea revealed from a review of the literature highlighted characteristics that describe a *good* mentor or *good* mentorship and distinguished the more effective qualities of the mentoring relationship. A *good* mentor had integrity, respect for the mentee, a curious and openminded stance, and a high level of knowledge and experience (Simon et al., 2019; Ragins, 2016). *Good* mentors were characterized as honest, caring, fair, passionate, approachable, and flexible (Simon et al., 2019; Ragins, 2016). *Good* mentorship included: the mentor having prior experience in mentoring, proximity and regular contact with mentors, opportunities to engage in collaboration and reflection in setting goals, and a trusting relationship (Bertrand et al., 2018). A *good* mentor can elevate the quality of a mentoring relationship.

Several studies examined the characteristics of *good* mentorship in connection to servant leadership theory and mentoring experiences of superintendents. Crippen and Wallin (2008) looked at the ten characteristics used to define servant leadership and how these desired traits developed in leaders through mentoring. The superintendents in this study indicated the servant leadership characteristics of the mentors they admired and reported using these same traits in their leadership style (Crippen & Wallin, 2008). Leaders in this study believed that mentors could include "all *teachers* in our lives from whom we learn the truths that most impact our lives and shape whom it is we become" (Crippen & Wallin, 2008, p. 547). *Good* mentors have the

characteristics of servant leadership, and their mentees admire these traits in effective mentoring relationships.

Emerging Leader Identity

The fifth idea to prevail in the literature was related to an emerging leader identity in aspiring leaders' preparation for formal leadership. Aspiring leaders or principals new to positions had a vague or non-existent professional leadership identity. Moving from a teacher identity to a leader identity was crucial for preparing for leadership (Carver, 2016; Jerdborg, 2020). This transformation takes time, support, and understanding of the process. (Carver, 2016; Jerdborg, 2020). "Understanding how principals form their professional identity is essential for understanding how principals make sense of their education and their work practices" (Jerdborg, 2020, p. 2). The transition from a teacher identity to a leader identity came with building on and enhancing their current identity as they developed and practiced their new leadership skills over time (Lieberman & Friedrich, 2010; Chval et al., 2010). Reflection is critical in the work of transforming and adopting a new professional identity (Simons et al., 2019). An emerging leader identity is essential for aspiring principals and forms through reflection, support, and existing teacher identity.

Emerging leader identity develops in teacher leadership programs. Four questions support the development of a leader identity: "Who am I? Where am I? How do I lead? What can I do?" (Carver, 2016, p. 163). One way to construct identity is by building and maintaining professional relationships and engaging in learning communities with colleagues (Lammert et al., 2020). An emerging leader identity can be supported formally in leadership preparation programs and informally in relationships and learning communities.

Summary of Key Findings from the Literature

Mentorship influences leadership preparation and has many benefits. Informal mentorships can support strong and trusting relationships, which are the basis of a successful mentoring relationship. As such, more formal mentorships should be structured in consideration of mentor-mentee pairings so more will benefit from *good* mentors who are trusting, flexible, approachable, honest, and experienced. Developing professional identity through reflection and observation is essential when transitioning from teacher identity to leader identity. However, there is more to be learned about how mentors engage mentees in identity development.

Theoretical Framework

Servant leadership theory offers a framework for examining the interconnections between mentorship and leadership. Many theorists have attempted to define servant leadership, and each has offered varying characteristics of a servant leader. The work of Van Dierendonck (2011) offers ways in which this theoretical framework informs this research study on mentoring relationships and identities of principals. Mainly, servant leadership contributes to understanding how, by definition, mentors *are* servant leaders. Furthermore, mentors may become principals who also go on to lead in the style of servant leadership. This section will discuss Greenleaf's (1977) conception of servant leadership theory, leadership as relationship, and how transformative learning theory supports identity development in leadership preparation.

Servant Leadership Theory

Greenleaf (1977) describes servant leadership in his seminal work as:

It begins with the natural feeling that one wants to serve, to serve first. Then conscious choice brings one to aspire to lead ... The best test, and difficult to administer is this: Do

those served grow as persons? Do they, while being served, become healthier, wiser,

freer, more autonomous, and more likely themselves to become servants? (p. 7)

Van Dierendonck (2011) writes that the lack of a clear definition of servant leadership has led to many interpretations and, subsequently, a broad list of attributes and behaviours characteristic of servant leaders. However, after a review of servant leadership, Van Dierendonck (2011) found there to be six key characteristics of servant leadership:

- 1. Empowering and developing people
- 2. Humility
- 3. Authenticity
- 4. Interpersonal Acceptance
- 5. Providing Direction
- 6. Stewardship. (p. 1232)

According to Van Dierendonck, servant leadership is unique because these six characteristics are not collectively present in other leadership theories. In addition, the duality of wanting to become a leader with the need to serve and emphasize the personal growth of others distinguishes servant leadership theory from others (Van Dierendonck, 2011).

Reinke (2004) references leadership theory to describe leadership as "a relationship, not a set of attributes or traits" (p. 34). Leadership as relationship is the basis of servant leadership because "community, listening, and empathy" are central (Reinke, 2004, p. 34). Servant leaders are defined by their character and by demonstrating their complete commitment to serving and valuing the uniqueness of others in their learning organizations (Parris & Peachey, 2012; Van Dierendonck, 2018).

Transformative Learning Theory suggests that a shift in perspective initiates deep and self-directed learning in adults (Carver, 2016). Illeris (2014) connected transformation to identity. The relationship between the valued identities of mentors with new leaders' emerging identities can be explored through the transformative learning framework. Furthermore, mentors' and leaders' values and beliefs, which compose their emerging identities, can then be explored through servant leadership theory as they critically examine what it is they believe and value and begin to develop new understandings about themselves as leaders. However, there is a gap concerning the application of this literature, which is how servant leadership, identity, and mentorship are present in K-12 schools with teachers and principals. This framework will shed light on how mentorship, servant leadership, and developing a leader identity are interconnected.

Methodology

This study was conducted to address the following research question: What are the perceptions and lived experiences of school principals with mentoring relationships and how have these relationships influenced values and identity development? This study is informed by my ontological belief that our experiences and how we interpret them relate to contextual factors that lead to multiple, socially constructed realities. This ontological positioning has affected the design of this research study, from the topic of inquiry to how participants' lived experiences have been interpreted (Pitard, 2017). I used participants' words to describe their experiences and perceptions with the phenomenon of mentoring relationships and identity development (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). Epistemology, the study of knowledge and what counts as knowledge, create understandings from subjective experiences (Held, 2019). This research is socially constructed knowledge from the participants' lived experiences and the dialogue we shared (Snape & Spencer, 2003). The relationship between the participant and the researcher is intricately

connected (Yilmaz, 2003). The relationship between researcher and participants is that of a closer, collaborative, and informal relationship. Trust in relationships is foundational to vulnerability and openness in communication and is needed to construct a deeper understanding of experiences. Participants' subjectivity, perceptions, and thought processes construct the knowledge of this inquiry.

The axiology of the constructivist worldview assumes values are present and that I, as the researcher, will have biases to include and explain. I suspended my biases, so the participants' voices in this inquiry formed the evidence gathered. I believe the quality of my mentoring relationships has contributed to my identity as an educator and my emerging leader identity. Acknowledging this bias allowed me to see these as my subjective experiences and to know participants have other realities to add to this phenomenon. Investigating my biases allowed room for a deeper understanding of my inquiry for new and different findings to emerge.

What matters most in this research study is the detailed descriptions of the participants' lived experiences and their perceptions of these experiences related to the phenomenon in question. The methodology that is best suited to this inquiry is a qualitative process of research. Yilmaz (2013) defines qualitative research as an "emergent, inductive, interpretive and naturalistic approach to the study of people, cases, phenomena, social situations and processes in their natural settings in order to reveal in descriptive terms the meanings that people attach to their experience of the world" (p. 312). This naturalistic approach to this study best captures the essence of participants' experiences.

Method

The method I used within a qualitative methodology was phenomenology.

Phenomenology is the study of lived experiences: feelings, emotions, viewpoints, and

perceptions (Creswell & Poth, 2018). van Manen (2014) describes phenomenology as beginning with a sense of wonder about the *what* and *how* of experiences. A phenomenological study describes commonalities of meaning of individuals' lived experiences with a particular phenomenon (Creswell & Poth, 2018). According to Creswell and Poth (2018), key features of phenomenology include:

- emphasis on a deeper understanding and common meaning of a phenomenon
- exploring a phenomenon that all participants have experienced
- discussion regarding participants having both subjective experiences of the phenomenon and objective experiences of the common meanings unearthed in the study
- bracketing of the researcher to identify and set aside personal experiences with the research, allowing focus on the participants' experiences
- data collection that most often involves interviewing individuals
- data analysis that moves from narrow to broader units of meaning
- describes the "essence" of experience.

van Manen (1990) defines this essence as a "grasp of the very nature of the thing (phenomenon)" (p.177). Phenomenology is the method best suited to constructing a deep understanding of participants' lived experiences by capturing the essence of what has been experienced.

Phenomenology was selected because it reflected the wonderings I had about others' experiences with mentoring, developing identity and preparation for leadership roles. I wanted to understand the essence of the participants' experiences and their mentoring relationships that may have influenced their identity development (Creswell & Poth, 2018). I was interested in subjective and multiple realities of mentoring relationships and identity development and finding out what was common amongst these experiences. Finding commonalities came from analyzing

the participants' thick descriptions of experiences, a trait of strong phenomenological research (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Bracketing

I ensured validity in this study by bracketing during the interview dialogue. In bracketing, I put my assumptions aside and remained as neutral as possible when interacting with the participants. My experiences with mentoring, both as a mentee and a mentor, have been positive, pivotal, and transformational. I have a lasting relationship with my first mentor in education from 20 years ago. The impact of our relationship in my beginning years as a teacher influenced my early teacher identity. Endless reflection and connection with my mentor continue to shape my emerging leader identity. I had assumptions that strong mentorship influenced my growth as an educator. I assumed that I valued those identity traits in myself and others because I saw my mentor as wise and humble. I also have experienced success in my role as a mentor with beginning teachers. Upon reflection, I entered mentoring relationships with the memories of my experiences and with the intent to foster growth in educators by focusing on the quality of a trusting and connected relationship. My identity as a teacher, mentor, and leader connects to the practice of listening leadership (Safir, 2017) and reflects my value for community, authenticity, wisdom, and humility (Brown, 2018). My understanding of how my values and identity have developed resulted from many life experiences. Yet, I credit a positive and connected mentoring relationship early in my career for influencing how I teach, mentor, and lead today.

Managing Bias. To check my bias, I maintained a double-entry journal. I recorded biases and assumptions that surfaced throughout data collection and data analyses. I made sure my intentions were clear in my letter of informed consent, letter to participate, and opening conversation about what I am studying (Miles et al., 2014). I further managed bias by checking

the meaning of outliers and extreme cases and discussed the exceptions to the themes generated through my analysis. Additionally, the participants' member checks of the transcripts further managed bias, and a supervisory committee checked the interpretation of codes and themes (Miles et al., 2014).

Strength of Study. I used the triple crisis of representation, legitimization, and praxis to ensure the trustworthiness and authenticity of this research study (Denzin & Lincoln, 2005).

- Crisis of representation: I accurately represented participants' voices by spending virtual time together to get a deeper sense of who they were. Participants provided thick descriptions by sharing their definition of a key term explored: mentorship. I personalized the participants in my description.
- Crisis of legitimization: The trustworthiness and believability of this research were strengthened with direct quotes that exemplified meaning. The interview protocol is included in Appendix B.
- Crisis of praxis: The results of this research will impact my mentoring relationships and
 the development of my emerging leader identity. Further, the responses and findings to
 the questions asked in the interview protocol may influence mentorship programs and
 teacher leadership programs.

I represented participants' voices, used direct quotes to demonstrate trust, and attended to how the findings may strengthen the authenticity and trustworthiness of this research study.

Data Sources

Data sources were based on the four participants in this research study. Three of the participants are currently working as school-based principals, and one is working as a district principal. Their combined experience included vice-principal, principal, and district principal in

elementary, middle, and high schools, within and outside the local school district. The years of experience in a vice-principal or principal role for these participants ranged from 4-11 years.

The principal participants in this research study work for an urban public school district in western British Columbia. There are approximately 50 schools employing principals and vice-principals in this district and those working in district program positions. The school district has offered formal mentorship opportunities to teachers for many years and provides mentorship and coaching for administrators. They also offer participation in a two-year Teacher Leader Academy where selection is granted based on both application and reference. In addition, the British Columbia Principals and Vice-Principals Association (BCPVPA, 2020) offers mentorship opportunities for principals and vice-principals in the province. The principals and vice-principals in this district have recently participated in professional development learning around values and identity development (Brown, 2018) and listening leadership (Safir, 2017).

This research study took place in the time of COVD-19, a worldwide pandemic (World Health Organization, 2020). There were implications for data gathering when researching during COVID-19. Semi-structured interviews were virtual because of provincial health orders and workplace safety plans from the Government of British Columbia (2020) to avoid unnecessary physical gatherings. Conducting the interviews virtually did not seem to inhibit responses from participants. However, it is possible that responses were not as in-depth as they may have been in person, given more limited opportunities to establish personal connections in the online environment.

The local school district and the University of the Fraser Valley's Human Research Ethics Board granted consent to conduct this research (HREB Protocol No. 100570, Appendix A) before recruiting participants for this study. Participants were selected using purposeful

convenient sampling because it allowed the intentional selection of participants, who then provided descriptions of their experiences that best addressed the phenomenon studied (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The following criteria were used to select participants: (a) employed as an elementary principal or elementary vice-principal; and (b) having had experience with mentoring relationships.

Four principals/vice-principals from a list of potential participants were invited through email to participate in an interview about their mentoring relationships and identity development experiences. The potential list of participants was created in case the initially invited principals declined the invitation to participate. I contacted the individual participants who accepted the invitation to participate through email to schedule a mutually convenient virtual interview using Zoom conferencing technology. I planned for the interview to be a maximum of one hour in length. I shared the letter of informed consent and the interview questions (Appendix B) once I had confirmed the dates and times of the interviews with the participants. At the beginning of our meeting for the interview, I reviewed the informed consent letter with participants. They returned the signed consent via email, signaling their acceptance to participate. At this time, we discussed confidentiality and their anonymity in the study. Gender-neutral pseudonyms were assigned to each participant when I anonymized the transcripts. The pseudonyms for participants in this study were: "Parker," "Rowan," "Wylde," and "Avery."

Data Tools

A semi-structured interview protocol (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015) of seven open-ended questions was the tool for this phenomenological study because it allowed participants to use their own words to describe their experiences (Appendix B). A bracketed interview of open-ended questions invited dialogue and thick descriptions of experiences to be shared by the

participants. Brinkmann and Kvale (2015) suggest that meaning is constructed in the social interaction between the researcher and participant through attempts to uncover the participants' lived experiences. For example, I had participants define mentorship in their own words, asking, "What does mentorship mean to you?" I prepared extending questions to include in the interview if needed. Examples of these extenders included: "I am curious why you said ---. Please give an example."; and "Tell me more about --." During the interview, I was mindful of allowing the participants to do the talking as they described their experiences and provided examples. I consciously kept interjections to a minimum and used non-verbal communication to demonstrate listening and encouragement.

The conversations were digitally audio-recorded using my personal cell phone and Otter voice transcription. I created and downloaded the transcription after conducting the interviews. I checked the transcription for accuracy before deleting the audio recording from Otter and anonymized the transcript, assigning a pseudonym to each participant. I further maintained confidentiality by including systems for collecting and storing interview transcripts.

I shared the individual transcriptions with the participants and had them verify that my construction of their feelings, thoughts, and perceptions was accurate. These member checks (Creswell & Poth, 2018) were completed within three days of the interview. I encouraged participants to read through the transcript and add, remove, and edit as they liked so the transcriptions would reflect their experiences and perceptions. I let them know that if they wished to add something to the transcript that they had not included in the initial interview, they were welcome. I requested that they return transcripts within five days of receiving them. This was communicated and considered to be the final date to withdraw from the study. Return of the member check indicated the participants' approval and acceptance of the transcription and

allowed data analysis of the transcripts to proceed. I communicated that the transcript would be accepted and considered ready for analysis if not returned within the given time frame.

Data Analyses

It is possible in a phenomenological research study to begin data analysis before all the data is gathered (Creswell & Poth, 2018). In addition to the above use, I kept a double-entry research journal to record observations, notes, assumptions, wonderings, and questions as I interviewed, reflected, and interacted with the transcriptions. I made a note if early analysis of one transcript impacted later analysis of other transcripts.

After data collection was complete, the data was organized and prepared for analysis (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This included anonymizing member-checked transcripts. I created a spreadsheet using Excel in which to record codes, themes, and quotes. Creswell & Poth (2018) highlight the overwhelming volumes of data generated in qualitative research and how preparing for analysis by having organizing systems in place early on is imperative to the process.

I read and re-read the transcripts to get a firm understanding and connection to what each participant experienced and how they perceived their experiences. Saldaña (2011) describes this familiarity with participants' words as "data intimacy" (p. 95). I planned to construct meaning from multiple experiences. I wanted to first get a feeling for the entirety of the data before narrowing my focus to the words and phrases that would lead to new understandings (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

As a constructivist, I analyzed the evidence using coding and transcript analysis to build upon participants' views. I then created themes that generated new theories about this phenomenon. I described, classified, and interpreted the data using the process of coding (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Saldaña (2011) defines codes as "a word or short phrase that

symbolically assigns a summative, salient, essence-capturing, and/or evocative attribute for a portion of language-based or visual data" (p. 95-96). The coding process I used included first-level coding, where I worked with the data to create codes, and second-level coding, where I worked with these codes to form categories and themes. The categories and themes formed in second-level coding were extended phrases that summarized both apparent and underlying meanings (Saldaña, 2011).

I referred to notes made in earlier readings as I read through the transcripts. I first coded by highlighting units of meaning that stood out or emerged in more than one place. I used two types of first-level coding in my analysis. I used in vivo coding, which uses actual language spoken by the participant as the codes (Saldaña, 2011). This involved highlighting words or short phrases that stood out as "significant or summative" (Saldaña, 2011, p. 99). In vivo codes were inputted into Excel, including the page number, interview question number, and participant number. I then used values coding as a second first-level coding system to analyze the data (Saldaña, 2011). Values coding identifies "values, attitudes, and beliefs of a participant, as shared by the individual and/or interpreted by the analyst" (Saldaña, 2011, p. 105). This type of coding aligned with my research question because I wanted to understand my participants' values. I was interested in the "heart and mind" of the phenomenon of mentoring relationships and identity development (Saldaña, 2011, p. 105). Values coding consists of: (a) values: people, things, or ideas that we attribute importance; (b) attitudes: evaluative thoughts and feelings about ourselves, other people, things, or ideas; and (c) beliefs: true or necessary thoughts, feelings and perceptions that formed from "personal knowledge, experiences, opinions, prejudices, morals..." (Saldaña, 2011, p. 105). Values coding was selected because it had a high likelihood of producing rich data within the study of phenomenology (Saldaña, 2011). I attached a value,

attitude, or belief code to each in vivo code. I categorized all the value codes together, the attitude codes, and the belief codes (Saldaña, 2011).

The next step in data analysis consisted of second-level values coding: classifying codes into categories and emerging themes (Creswell & Poth, 2018). To do this, I looked to each in vivo code with a values code attached and named it with either a word or a short phrase. I then created and named categories that acted as an umbrella for similar and related codes. Finally, these categories were then sorted and arranged to form prominent themes found in this study. "Themes are broad units of information that consist of several codes aggregated to form a common idea" (Creswell & Poth, 2018, p. 194). Five to seven general themes are a typical number of themes to emerge from the data (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Four general themes emerged in my analyses. I included powerful quotes from the transcription that illustrated each code, category, and theme. I recorded quotes that captured the essence of a theme into the excel spreadsheet. The themes were categorized into similar clusters to generate theoretical constructs (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Results

Emerging from this process were three themes that embrace what mattered most to principals in this study of their lived experiences with mentoring and identity: Mentoring in Place and Space, Trusting Relationships, and Guiding Mentorship.

Mentoring in Place and Space

Mentoring happened organically in place as a physical location and as a mentee's place of understanding. Mentoring in space occurred in the context of relationships. Principals experienced mentorship with colleagues as mentors and multiple mentorships throughout their careers. Mentoring relationships thrived in spaces of quality relationships, and key features made

the building of relationships for mentoring more likely. These relationships served as spaces for mentees to feel seen.

Colleagues as Mentors

Having colleagues as mentors was unanimously shared by participants. The place of living, learning, teaching, or leading was critical in determining mentoring relationships with colleagues. All participants shared experiences of colleagues perceived to be mentors along their way. Rowan stated, "I've had other colleagues...every role that I've had, I've had someone there beside me." Avery valued being seen as "an equal partner," while Parker appreciated having a collegial mentoring relationship with an "experienced person who has been through it."

Participants considered collaboration with colleagues to be mentorship and referenced principals they would meet to "talk about issues and help and support each other" (Avery). Learning from colleagues was valued by participants as they were pursuing formal leadership. Avery remarked, "I learned a lot of what I wanted to do, but [also] what I didn't want to do" (Avery) and appreciated colleagues who were perceived as mentors because they were "going through things at the same time" (Avery). Parker shared, "there are some incredibly talented principals here, and I consider them all mentors." Participants shared common attitudes of positivity and gratitude for mentoring relationships with colleagues.

Participants expressed uncertainty about defining some of their relationships with colleagues as mentorships because they were not formal. Rowan stated, "[they're] not intentionally mentoring me, but [they] kind of [are]" when talking of a colleague who acted as an informal mentor. Wylde reflected on an experience that helped prepare them for leadership, "You get into education where teachers are leaders anyway, they're leaders of students in their class or leaders within the building, and you watch their leadership style." Participants stressed

the importance of teamwork in collegial mentoring relationships. A mentoring relationship between a principal and vice-principal suggested flattened hierarchy, "I have the principal, but we're a team...we're co-principals" (Parker). Wylde remarked on the mutual benefits that emerged from working as a team with those they lead and mentor, "I rely on them, sometimes as much as they rely on me. We kind of all work together." Learning alongside colleagues and working as a team provided spaces for mentorship to happen.

Multiple Mentorship

Having multiple mentors to guide participants in different places and transitions along their way was consistent across all participants' experiences. Participants conveyed a positive attitude when speaking about the collective of "fantastic mentors" they experienced (Rowan). Avery shared, "As a new administrator, I had mentors, and they were awesome." They valued the benefit of having diverse and multiple mentors, "they all have their strengths" (Avery). Participants reflected on early life experiences when considering who their mentors were. Ongoing and significant mentorships included relationships with family, community members, and colleagues who felt like family. Rowan shared, "my parents were my first mentors," and placed importance on a mentoring relationship with a teacher from high school, "[they were] like a second father to me." Wylde felt similar, "[They're] really a mentor to me. [They] basically calls me [they're] other [child]." Multiple mentorships offered the possibility of finding significant and long-lasting mentoring relationships.

As participants talked more deeply about noteworthy experiences with mentoring relationships, they connected to people they had not initially considered a mentor. Avery shared, "As I was going on in my career, I had a VP who started acting a little bit more like a mentor and an encourager, and that's why I got into admin." Significant to more than one participant was that

some mentors were unaware they were in a mentoring role. Parker stated, "[They] didn't know they were my mentor," and Rowan, "They would guide me along, whether they knew it or not, just by being around them." Mentorship was found to form even in unlikely relationships.

Participants referenced intentional reflection on relationships when describing how they learn from past mentors and can continue to access mentors' support. Rowan emphasized, "The key is to be reflective about your relationships." Further, "I understand now how it's so important to be reflective in your practice and in your relationships" (Rowan). This kind of reflection allowed mentors to guide mentees, even when they were not present. Rowan remarked how they would ask themselves, "What would this person do in this situation? And how would they handle this? I would think about being them having this conversation." Rowan referenced connecting with past mentors when needed, "I look at my long list of all my mentors in the past, and I can tell you that I can phone any one of them at any time and ask for advice or guidance." Rowan noted that reflecting on negative mentoring experiences is also valuable learning, "All my experiences have shaped my leadership, even the negative ones because they inform you." Reflecting on relationships and thinking about those who were mentors in hindsight was common amongst participants.

Building Relationships

The place where the mentor and mentee were situated created the space required for building mentoring relationships. "This is where the relationship piece comes in and the mentorship within the school" (Wylde). Informal relationships built on choice, connection, and need created spaces for meaningful mentoring to occur.

Choice. Choice was a requirement for building successful and enduring mentoring relationships. Defining what mentorship means to them, Wylde responded, "You never know

what relationship you forge with folks or who you gravitate to, but those can also be your mentors, but choose them wisely." Parker stated, "I think they are lifelong if it is a good relationship," and Wylde spoke of, "Who do you look to, who do you choose?" Once choosing a mentor, Wylde saw the work of relationships to come next, "then you forge these relationships." Participants shared how lack of choice for a mentee or mentor could have negative consequences. Rowan believed the relationship between a principal and vice-principal to be "a forced relationship because you don't get to choose," and said, "You're thrown into this mentorship role automatically if you're ever a principal, you're mentoring a vice-principal." Although not their experience, Rowan noted, "you don't always get a principal that is going to mentor you. Unfortunately, they don't always have the time, or it's not their priority." Participants expressed gratitude for principals who were committed to mentoring, "[They] spent three months mentoring me along and showing me the ropes, and I am grateful for the time" (Rowan). Participants expressed attitudes of honour and responsibility as leaders engaging in mentoring work, "for me, I think it's a great honour and privilege...when you're in this position, you're almost obligated to do a really good job of mentoring them along" (Rowan). Participants valued choosing a mentor who met their needs and with whom they had a connection.

Connection. Mentorship was more likely to emerge in spaces where there were mutual feelings of connection and compatibility between mentor and mentee. Rowan shared, "It's very difficult to enter into this reciprocal mentorship relationship without having a connection to people." Participants valued building relationships with people they "had more in common with (Avery). Participants experienced shifting roles as they navigated their way through transition points in their careers. As Wylde shared, "I never really viewed myself as a mentor, I was always more of the mentee being mentored by somebody else. But now...I guess I've become somewhat

of a mentor to folks." Wylde talked about the moment they realized they were a mentor, and instead of looking to others for guidance, they found others were, "always looking to me and asking me questions." Wylde added, "Experience comes through, and people do look to you for some of the answers. It's kind of neat how that evolved over time... and people gravitate your way and ask you how you're doing these things." Parker noted that when they were a mentee, their mentor "didn't learn anything from me," but was surprised to discover when they were the mentor that they "learned so much from [the mentee]." Parker believed that a strong connection developed into a mentoring relationship where "we both learned a lot from each other" and "We were just like a married couple." Mentoring relationships were made stronger from the beginning when mentor and mentee had a connection.

Need. A catalyst for building effective mentoring relationships was a mentee's need to learn in a particular area and seek a mentor who could support that learning. Wylde explained this as, "pulling strengths and the things that I needed...I'm kind of weaker in this area, who do I connect with?" Avery referenced one's place in their understanding as an important consideration when they needed mentorship, "It depends on where you are in your experiences." Principals needed mentoring relationships to support them in their work as leaders, "If I didn't have these relationships, it would be challenging" (Rowan). Building relationships with mentors who helped meet the learning needs of mentees was believed to support principals in various places as they learned while in the role.

There was a need to learn how to build relationships in their work as leaders. Participants expressed gratitude and appreciation for learning about the importance and qualities of building relationships in preparation for formal leadership. Avery said, "What I did get from them, which has taken me a long way, was the importance of relationship and relationships with teachers and

families." Rowan spoke of a mentor "actively building relationships with me [and] for me" and how that shaped their initiation into leadership in the district. "The experiences that I've had working with all these different people helped me create connections with people" (Rowan). Learning how to build relationships was significant to principals because they recognized the importance of relationships in their leadership.

Informal. Informal mentorship was believed to be more influential than formal mentorship. Influence emerged from the connected and enduring nature of informal mentorships as opposed to transitory formal mentorships. As Avery noted, "These are informal mentoring, but at the time my formal mentors had all gone." In addition, participants spoke positively of informal and formal mentorship and found informal mentoring relationships to offer more profound influence. Avery said, "I really liked them and trusted them [formal mentors], but I had a closer connection to [an informal mentor], and I will still call them, bounce ideas off them, and connect with [them]." Participants expressed admiration, "I wish I could be like her" (Parker), and humility, "[I'm] not necessarily being the expert" (Rowan), when reflecting on influential mentoring relationships. Participants reflected on their informal mentors and noted ones they believed were instrumental in supporting their leadership transition. Rowan shared, "[They] helped pave the way for me to be an administrator," and Parker spoke of an informal mentor as being "the reason I did this." Participants believed informal mentoring relationships resulted in deep learning prepared them for leadership because they had a feeling of comfort, were based on compatibility, and met a specific need that they desired to develop.

Being Seen

Common to participants' experiences were *being seen* by their mentors. These moments of being acknowledged, recognized, and celebrated by mentors were "just that little thing"

(Parker) that elevated their esteem. Moments of visibility and validation often appeared in the form of compliments from admired mentors. Parker says, "If I could be a piece of the leader that they are...having that compliment from them just meant a lot," and Rowan shared, "[They] felt that I was a good collaborator, and so I think that's a great compliment." These moments of being seen had a lasting impression. Similarly, Parker believed it is essential to celebrate staff, "It just lets the teachers know that you see them because it's hard to acknowledge them individually." Parker spoke of actively "recognizing the incredible skill sets" of their staff and "celebrating the growth." Avery valued giving those they lead "room to shine and to show what they can or want to do." The value placed on *being seen* as a mentee has shown up in the participants' work as mentors and leaders as they acknowledge, recognize, and celebrate the people they mentor and lead.

Being seen sparked leadership aspirations in participants and encouraged moving forward along their career paths. Avery said, "It helped to reignite some of my interest and passion in teaching again and in my own learning." Participants described how their mentor saw qualities in them. This recognition inspired interests in teaching and leading for the participants. Significant to Avery's experience was a mentor seeing Avery's strengths and what they had to offer others. This moment was shared with an attitude of humility and vulnerability:

What was so different about this was, it was one of the first times, other than my mentor teacher that was across the hall from me my first couple years of teaching...but this person showed an interest, but also showed that they valued what I was doing and that what I was doing in the classroom was of value and was of importance and it was something to be celebrated. And I hadn't really felt that, had that before. (Avery)

Similarly, Wylde valued a mentor noticing them and reaching out with an offer to work together on initiatives and projects, "[They] asked me if we could do this and can I put this together."

Avery connected their pivotal experience of being seen to their definition of mentorship,

"Working with people who see you as somebody that has things to offer." Being seen, valued,
and the feeling that mentees had important things to offer contributed to the strength of the relationship.

Trusting Relationships

Trusting relationships were the most significant feature in mentoring relationships of principals. Being able to *trust in the support* of their mentors was necessary for engaging in opportunities of challenge and risk. Principals valued these opportunities because they led to their professional growth. A mentor believing in the mentee was significant and influential in leadership preparation. Principals appreciated learning *how to be* in their leadership and came out the other side of mentorship with an emerging leader identity and a deeper understanding of who they are.

Trust in the Support

Participants valued the support that comes with a trusting mentoring relationship. Rowan shared that part of mentorship is knowing that mentees can "trust in the support," and Avery said, "It's a trusting relationship where you're supporting each other." Rowan spoke of the need for a mentor to be reliable and dependable in building trust with a mentee. When sharing a story of being in a mentoring role as a district helping teacher, they said:

Teachers would contact me about everything, and I would go see them as soon as possible, or I would find ways to connect and support them...that's an important piece in

mentorship as well is building that trust, that 'I'm out of my comfort zone, but I know that I have support, to access that support in a reasonable timeframe. (Rowan)

The word trust often appeared in participants' definitions of mentorship. Avery described mentorship as a "trusting relationship, where we can take risks, where I can be vulnerable...where both people can be vulnerable." Wylde spoke of the presence of trust as necessary for risk and challenge, which ultimately "leads to growth." Rowan shared, "Mentorship is about trust, guidance, and listening." When describing what was noteworthy about influential mentoring relationships, Avery says, "I have to have trust." Knowing that trust was present in their mentoring experiences was described as: feeling like they could "just depend" (Parker) on the mentor, having an "honest relationship" (Parker), and as a place where they "felt safe trying things" (Parker). Parker's comment, "I think it's just all about trust and that relationship," was a common sentiment from participants about their mentoring experiences.

Participants spoke of formal mentorship experiences where trust was lacking, and they no longer considered these to be mentoring relationships. Parker stated, "I've had a mentor where after a few months of working together, I just closed off...I didn't share anything, didn't trust and didn't feel supported." When "that level of trust wasn't completely there," Avery did not feel safe or comfortable in sharing experiences with their mentor or reaching out for support. Trust was perceived as more challenging to build in formal mentorships, "People always worry you are going to report back to somebody" (Avery). Formal mentoring relationships that were with mentors outside of the participants' district were found to be different and "freeing because they didn't have the connections [to people within the district]" (Avery). Trust defines mentorship for principals, and its absence is significant enough to sever the mentorship relationship.

Challenge, Risk, & Growth

Perhaps trust is so important because trusting relationships provided participants safety and support to engage in challenges and risks that resulted in their professional growth. The non-evaluative nature of mentoring relationships and reflective conversations contributed to feelings of safety in taking risks. These relationships allowed participants to "try things out" (Parker). Feeling successful and knowing that support was available to them in challenging situations led to reassurance and confidence for participants "in a safe place where I had support to deal with it" (Avery). Being able to engage in risk was perceived as positive and was a defining component of mentorship. Describing a negative experience where trust was lacking, Parker said, "[I] couldn't take risks because it was all about telling you what to do...they weren't a mentor." Trust, safety, and support allowed principals to engage in opportunities of challenge and risk in the service of learning.

Opportunities to take on a "variety of leadership roles" were common in principals' mentoring relationships (Rowan). Participants noted mentors who practiced distributed leadership and extended invitations to lead in varying capacities as a teacher leader. These mentors were influential in participants' transition from teaching to formal leadership and this mentoring style also supported many other teacher leaders to become principals. As Rowan shared, "[There were] seven teachers who are now administrators who worked with [them] at the school," and "From a mentorship standpoint, I think [they] did a lot to prepare teachers to take on the next role." With increased experience and demonstration of readiness, participants experienced *being seen* when influential mentors "just kept giving me these roles" that opened further possibilities in preparing for leadership (Wylde). Avery saw principals who provided mentorship as allowing for "more distributed leadership" of roles within the school. Avery

further described distributive leadership as an element of leadership preparation and how it "introduced me to some of the pushback you get from colleagues or teachers when you are in a leadership role." Principals appreciated learning through opportunities of risk and challenge opportunities and credit mentors' *seeing them* and inviting them to engage in leadership.

Principals believed engaging in challenges and risks and experiencing failure influenced their leadership preparation. Wylde said, "When there's an open door, just try to go through it...if you fail, you fail." Participants spoke of learning to fail in the safety of trusting mentoring relationships. Parker reflected, "I tried that, and it bombed. I will not do that again." Resilience was evident and resulted from risk and failure. Parker shared, "You can take a risk, it can flop, and you're going to be okay." Avery spoke of being "a strong believer in failing forward," and "You have to have relationships that they know that they can take risks, they can try new things, and they can fail, and it'll be okay." Further, "If you think everything is going to be easy for you all the time, then you're not going to take the risks, and you're not going to work through your struggle, you're not going to be resilient" (Avery). Participants appreciated learning from experiencing failure in safe and trusting relationships.

Risks and challenges in trusting mentoring relationships led to learning and growth in areas of interest and strength for participants. Trying things allowed participants to "see what works" (Avery) and reflect with their mentors about their practice, what was worth adopting, and what to leave behind. Avery found, "It was a really great relationship in that this person was able to challenge and push me and help me grow." These learning experiences were valued because they "allowed me to pursue my passions" (Rowan) and because "you have all these conversations about education which drives passion too" (Wylde). Participants' appreciation and gratitude for

mentors who "put them through the wringer" (Wylde) and guided their learning in risks and challenges were evident.

Avery talked about providing challenge in a mentoring relationship from the view of the mentor. Avery said, "I'm not afraid of the hard questions, and I'm not afraid to push." Avery shared, "learning is a challenge, it's a struggle," and talked of enjoying the conversations where mentees wrestle with a problem and learn from it. They referenced having grace and understanding for where mentees were in their place of understanding and guiding them forward from there:

This is a hard thing to do at times...just like we want teachers in classrooms to accept where the student is at and work with them from where they're at and celebrate the movement they make, we have to do the same thing with for our colleagues." (Avery)

Rowan adds, "Ultimately we want people to self-actualize and reach their potential." As mentors, principals expressed empathy for mentees and tailored mentorship to a mentees' place of understanding.

Trust was a necessary requirement in mentoring relationships for participants to feel safe enough to experiment with leadership when opportunities were presented to them. Similarly, the feeling of safety was necessary to risk failing in these opportunities. Consequently, participants valued the development in their learning and growth that emerged from leading in challenge and risk.

Believing In

Mentors who demonstrated *believing in* mentees were significant in creating trusting mentorship relationships. Parker said, "I think the biggest thing with mentorship, it has to be someone who believes in you." A mentor believing in Parker was the most noteworthy feature of

their mentoring relationships, "[They] just had so much belief in me and confidence in my abilities." Avery felt that their mentor *believing in* them elevated their esteem in themselves, "They kind of held you up a bit." Having someone who believed in them developed confidence in principals and ignited passion for student-centered teaching, leading, and learning. Rowan referenced their mentor believing in their abilities and career possibilities, "[they were] already thinking of my future even before I thought about my future." Rowan valued this mentor because they "put pieces in place for me to ensure I would have a successful career." Parker spoke of how *believing in* the possible growth of teachers includes "congratulating [them] on the success I saw" and being sure to share the words, "I knew you could do it." Parker's style of mentoring in a leadership role reflects the strengths valued in their past mentors. Parker spoke of a mentor offering grace, "You made the best judgment you could," and years later offers the same attitude towards others, "Everyone's doing the best they can." Principals expressed gratitude for their mentors *believing in* their abilities, providing vision for their futures, and facilitating seeing themselves and beginning to identify as leaders.

How to Be

Learning 'how to be' and developing a leader identity was valued in trusting mentoring relationships. The phrase *how to be* was used when connecting values to what participants believe to be true for themselves in their leadership. Learning *how to be* a leader was described by Parker as "really living what you believe in." Parker spoke of learning "how to handle yourself professionally" and "how to be patient, how to be forgiving to myself and others." When reflecting on the emergence of their leader identity, Wylde felt validated and affirmed because others recognized that who they were as a person resembled who they were as a leader, "People know who you are. People know what your intentions are." Rowan spoke of mentorship

as instilling values and "help[ing] me develop to be the person I am." Principals learned more about themselves and what they value through observing their mentors' modeling their own values, "[They] just keep modeling it. I learned that from [them]" (Parker). Participants noted learning how to convey care for teachers by doing little things, "[They] would open the doors every day for us and so I do that for the staff here" (Parker). Rowan shared a significant experience of a mentor who taught them *how to be* in relationships when things are difficult:

[They] helped me understand the role of administrator and how to have difficult conversations with teachers...One thing that stuck with me was sometimes administrators need to be the adults in the relationship. Sometimes with stress and anxiety, things can come out sideways, and people aren't really thinking rationally...you need to step back and look at the situation and be the adult in the relationship, and you have to make the hard decisions and have the hard discussions...that influenced my leadership as well.

Principals' developing leader identity and how they handled difficult decisions and conversations was influenced by knowing how to be. Mentors supported principals in learning *how to be* who they needed to be in these challenging situations.

Guiding Mentorship

The theme of guiding mentorship emerged from participants describing mentors as guides. They held significant value for mentors who acted as guides alongside them. Values that influenced the hearts and minds of principals are described here. Servant leadership as mentorship resulted in The Three Es of Guiding Mentorship: Encourage, enhance, and empower.

Mentor as Guide

Principals described their influential mentors as *guides* and believed strongly in the practice of servant leadership. Principals valued this style in their mentors and their leadership

practices and approached leading with a servant, humble attitude. Rowan described mentorship as "guidance, a guide on your side." Rowan shared humility, "I'm just providing them with guidance in different areas of leadership." Avery highlighted servant leadership, "I like to learn alongside people" and to "do it in a way that is guiding." Rowan spoke of core values, "I came up with reciprocity and the idea that I am always giving back, a servant leader." Rowan added, "I look at my life and how I benefit from education," and wished to provide that benefit to those they serve as principal. Participants valued guiding mentoring relationships where learning occurred alongside and in the style of servant leadership for the focus on the development of the mentee.

Heart & Mind

Although principals shared some similar values, a diverse collection of equally significant values emerged. A principals' values as a leader were often the result of learning from relationships and experiences with mentors. The participants used their diverse and common values to guide them in leading with their hearts and minds.

For example, Parker spoke of compassion for students, staff, families, and colleagues throughout the interview, "I'm compassionate for staff, supportive to staff, and supportive to kids." Parker valued being "all about the people," "having a passionate staff," and validating their staff, "I love people enjoying what they're doing and celebrating success." Parker highly valued compassion and support.

Rowan talked about core values to guide them, "It's important to have that core value...having something you value or guide you." They arrived at one word that captured their leadership style through conversations with a mentor. Rowan's identity has evolved into a core

value of empowerment, "I'm empowering people to be the best they can be, whether a student, teacher or parent." The value for empowerment wove throughout Rowan's experiences.

Wylde spoke of three values that "come back to servant leadership" and guide them in leadership: being a moral steward, being a competent administrator, and being student-centered. "If I'm a good moral steward within the buildings, ...make sure [I'm] a competent person within that role...and there for the kids." Wylde believed in positivity and teamwork, "Looking for the positive, that's what I try to instill," and "If we value everybody equally, it just means we are going to have a good team." Moral stewardship, competency, and keeping the student at the center of their decisions are the values that construct Wylde's leader identity.

Avery values trust and challenge in relationships, "You have to have those trusting relationships with your teachers...that they know they can take risks, and they can fail, and it will be okay." Avery also values curiosity and conversations, "I'm really curious, so I ask a lot of questions." Avery stressed the value of joy in leading and learning, "I have to have joy in my life and enjoy what I'm doing," and "Our learning has to be joyful and meaningful and relevant." Avery's values for trust, challenge, curiosity, and joy are evident in the mentoring they do in leadership.

All principals valued being a student-centered leader and keeping the student at the heart of all decisions. Wylde expressed this as, "[I'm] relying on a whole bunch of smart people trying to do the right thing for kids." For Rowan, "it's important to have that core value when it comes to decision making." Parker spoke of, "I think it goes back to knowing the why," and Avery keeps the "child at [the] center of everything I do." The value for the child/student/learner as central to the work of principals was strengthened for leadership through conversations with, and modelling by, their formal and informal mentors.

In mentoring relationships, participants had similar beliefs about the qualities of strong mentorship and leadership. Participants valued clarity, "Things there were clear. I never had to wonder about things" (Parker). Each believed in the merits of listening, "Mentorship is about guidance, trust, listening" (Rowan). Listening and empathy were strongly valued, "someone can at least empathize and listen to you" (Parker); "We listen to our stakeholders, and then we're empathetic, we are compassionate, and then we make decisions" (Rowan); and "It's important to be a good listener, especially in a leadership role" (Rowan). Transparency, openness, and honesty were common values. Avery said, "I try to be as transparent as I can, as open and honest as I can," and "As long as you're clear and honest about what you're about, and transparent, people can accept that." Wylde shared, "You're going to make these mistakes, just being honest about it. I think good leaders admit when they're wrong." While there were no similar core values shared between all participants, there was a shared collection of fundamental values required to be an effective leader. These shared values guided principals in their relationships in mentorship and leadership.

3 Es of Guiding Mentorship

Guiding mentorship emerged from principals' identification with servant leadership and defining mentorship as guidance. Three qualities of guiding mentorship influenced principals' preparation for leadership and identity development: Encouragement, enhancement, and empowerment.

Encouragement. Participants believe encouragement from mentors is critical in a successful mentoring relationship. Along the way, it was mentors who were encouraging that were noteworthy. Encouragement to Avery looked like noticing strengths in mentees and actively supporting their growth, "They were really encouraging... [the mentor said,] you should

be sharing it, you should be talking about it." Avery values curiosity, and it was mentors who "really helped encourage me to be curious and keep asking questions."

As mentors and leaders, principals demonstrated encouragement for others with an attitude of grace and acceptance for where people were in their understanding. Avery noted, "We're all at different places with our understanding of different things and our ability to change depending on what's happening in our life." Avery encouraged and supported mentees in their learning, "You're comfortable on that edge there, but you're struggling a bit." Avery added, "There's got to be something that's not going quite the way you want it to go. How can we support you?" Guiding mentorship included encouragement that emerged from seeing and supporting strengths in participants.

Enhancement. Principals described their mentoring role as enhancing mentees' strengths and skillsets. For Rowan, "My goal was to add value to what [they are] doing right now and just enhancing it somehow" and "I would add my expertise and kind of marry it with theirs." Parker believed, "a mentor stretches your thinking" and "makes you think of different ways of doing things." Rowan reflected on their mentors, "looking at them today, they all come with different skills, experiences, added value."

When mentoring, principals had respect for mentees' skills, knowledge, and place of understanding. Rowan believed that:

Adults come with a lot of experience and prior knowledge, and that needs to be respected...I'm just providing [them] with guidance in different areas of leadership...I'm still respecting [the skills they come with], just adding value to [their] skillset and guiding [them] along.

Rowan believed in their intuition when meeting new people and using it to guide how they will offer support, "In my first meeting with them, I can already see how I can work with them and support them...What their strengths and weaknesses are and help to nurture them."

A challenge with guiding mentees and enhancing their skills is when mentors do not feel equipped to offer support in a particular area. Rowen noted, "There's also the instructional side of things when you're a leader, a principal. You're expected to be an instructional leader and guiding best practice, and that's hard to do when it might not be your subject area" (P2, p. 3). Guiding mentorship included enhancing the skills of participants and honoring their place of understanding from the beginning and throughout the relationship.

Empowerment. Principals valued mentors who empowered them along the way.

Connected to strong mentorship for principals was empowerment to make decisions and discover their potential. Parker described empowerment in mentors as those who "bring you to your own conclusion" and "helps you find your own answers." Parker noted that "[mentors] may not have all the answers" and are guiding mentees in self-discovery. Principals valued feeling empowered in mentoring relationships, "it's really looking at yourself, how you can change" (Parker), and that developing identity to prepare for leadership needed to come from within, "from the inside out" (Parker). Empowerment served an important function in mentoring relationships.

Specifically, it allowed the mentor to guide, and it deepened the mentees' learning and understanding as they worked to reach their potential.

Participants believed in empowerment and reciprocity with the servant leadership model as a guide in their mentoring and leading experiences. Rowan framed the process of guiding mentees through an empowerment lens, "I am going to empower you with knowledge, and ultimately I am going to walk away" and "It's always the intent that you're going to be self-

sufficient, self-directed, down the road." Empowerment implies that the mentor will not always be needed once the mentee has reached their potential.

Empowerment came in the form of encouraging curiosity by asking the mentee questions that made them think more deeply. Parker spoke of a mentor who fostered independence in decision-making. Instead of telling Parker what to do, the mentor had them talk through how they would address it. Principals referenced empowerment in mentors who influenced their preparation for leadership, "people are guiding me along and empowering me to take on this role" (Rowan). Empowerment resulted in principals learning with instead of from their mentors. It was not about working with a mentor who has all the answers and an attitude of "you're going to learn from me" (Avery).

Principals' leader identities were connected to mentoring and leading in the style of guiding mentorship and servant leadership. Evidence of empowerment, enhancement, and encouragement was significant in the mentoring relationships of principals, both as a mentee and a mentor.

Discussion

The primary purpose of this study was to examine the lived experiences and perceptions of principals with mentoring relationships. The study aimed to understand how these relationships influenced leader identity and preparation for formal leadership. The guiding research question was: What are the perceptions and experiences of principals with mentoring relationships in the K-12 school system, and how have these relationships influenced their values and identity development? This question emerged from curiosity about the quality of mentoring relationships that influence leadership and what role mentorship plays in developing values and identity. Having a strong or emerging sense of identity, knowing who you are as a

leader, is supported in the literature as necessary for navigating the difficult conversations and decisions equated with principals' work. Servant Leadership Theory was a framework for this study. However, findings reveal a connection of servant leadership to transformative learning experiences in mentorship. This phenomenological study of four principals led to three main themes relating to influential mentoring relationships: Mentoring in Place and Space, Trusting Relationships, and Guiding Mentorship. The discussion focuses on the implication of these themes in relation to the literature.

Mentoring in Place and Space

'Mentoring in Place and Space' emerged from mentorship in the context of shared physical places and a conceptual place of understanding. Building informal relationships based on choice, connection, and need, created spaces for the deeper work of mentoring to transpire. Strong mentoring relationships with colleagues emphasizing shared leadership and improved teaching, learning, and caring are consistent with Fullan and Hargreaves (2000) and Crippen (2004). Principals described 'being seen' in these relationships as pivotal moments because they resulted in formal leadership aspirations. This relates to Brown's (2010) definition of connection. Creating places and spaces where mentorship relationships can form in K - 12 education settings is worthy of consideration and exploration. Teaching can be an isolating endeavor. The examples of positive, influential mentoring relationships revealed in this study may not be available to everyone without attention given to generating mentoring relationships in schools.

Influential mentoring relationships with colleagues and multiple mentorships are consistent with Daloz's (1999) claim that mentors appear during transitions. Finding mentorship within collegial relationships links to the literature that suggests proximity, regular contact, and trusting relationships are hallmarks of strong mentorship (Bertrand et al., 2018). Participants in

this study placed greater importance on their informal mentors with whom they connected and chose to enter a mentoring relationship consistent with the findings of Parfitt (2017). Formal mentoring relationships were limited in depth and trust. This could be because there is less opportunity in formal mentorships for pairing based on choice and connection. These findings highlight the need for formal mentorship, coaching, and leadership preparation programs to find ways to offer the benefits of informal mentoring relationships. For example, trust and strength in formal mentoring relationships may increase when matching mentees and mentors on compatibility, proximity, and needs. Furthermore, when principals were in the role of mentor, they believed the process developed an understanding of their own leadership styles. Mentorship as developing leadership in both the mentee and mentor is consistent with Clayton's (2013) research. A strong beginning and an initial positive experience in a mentoring relationship allow mentorship's functions and benefits to evolve.

Personal and professional mentoring relationships may occur throughout one's life. The results of this study suggest principals recognized influential mentors through reflection and hindsight only once they were through the transition. Looking back at relationships that have been impactful and identifying them as mentorships connects to literature that suggests mentors can be anyone in our lives who shapes who we become and influence what we come to value and believe about our identity (Crippen & Wallin, 2008; Palmer, 1998). The finding that some teachers and principals are mentors without considering themselves mentors implies mentoring approaches may come more naturally to some. It also means that the functions and qualities of mentorship may strongly align with teaching and educational leadership. Training and practice can develop the practice of mentorship in teachers and leaders. In the K-12 education context, this warrants consideration and planning to make mentorship more widely available. It means

more than bringing strong mentors into schools and implies developing teachers and principals, already working in schools, into strong mentors. I see this being particularly valuable in schools with many early career teachers or schools implementing new ways of teaching and learning. The finding of mentorship in hindsight highlights the benefit of reflective activities for aspiring and new leaders to learn from mentors of their past, consistent with Carver (2016), who found participating in reflective activities in leadership programs was transformative.

Trusting Relationships

The theme of 'Trusting Relationships' included participants' beliefs that trust and support were necessary conditions for moving towards opportunities that provided challenge, risk, subsequent growth, and preparation for leadership roles. Trusting relationships were fundamental for mentorship, and participants valued mentors who believed in their abilities to engage in this challenging work. The finding that trust and trusting relationships are essential to mentoring relationships aligned with the literature (Bertrand et al., 2018; Parfitt, 2007; Scott, 2010; Zepeda, 2012). Participants believed these relationships were instrumental in learning how to be a principal and how to be the kind of leader they have become. Fullan and Hargreaves (2000) described these relationships of learning how to be as ones that improved teaching, learning, and caring. Learning how to be a leader in mentorship influenced principals' leader identity development. As described in Palmer (1998), it required principals to reflect on relationships to connect who they were as a person to who they were as a leader. Whereas Clayton et al. (2013) found learning 'how to be' was connected to mentees adapting to the expectations of their new leadership positions. Trusting relationships supported principals in learning how to be a principal and developing their identities.

The research findings highlight the qualities of strong mentorship and what is influential about mentoring relationships for principals. Vulnerability, openness, honesty, and competency were values principals believed to be intrinsic to trusting mentoring relationships. The results are consistent with Bertrand et al.'s (2018) description of values associated with trusting relationships. Participants suggested that trusting relationships built on choice, connection, and need were essential for beginning and moving forward with mentorship. Given this, it was not surprising that informal mentoring relationships were more influential than formal mentoring relationships because of the deeper connection between mentee and mentor. Consistent with Scott (2010), strong mentorship was described as linear and present in relationships where a mentor and mentee worked alongside one another. Formal mentorship did not always include deep and complete trust. However, trust was one facet of strength in the mentoring relationships of principals. Trusting mentoring relationships were the primary and necessary conditions for the mentor and mentee to work together to construct meaningful learning and development for the mentee.

Guiding Mentorship

The third key theme of this research study was *Guiding Mentorship*. Participants described their mentors as guides and the process of mentorship as guiding them along. These results may reflect how servant leadership theory (Greenleaf, 1977) appears in mentorship experiences. Principals experienced mentorship through the guidance of a mentor who embodied the characteristics of servant leadership suggested by Van Dierendonck (2011). Principals considered mentors who adopted a servant leadership approach to mentoring to be the most influential. The most compelling explanation for this finding is that principals believed servant leader mentorship guided them in their reinvention of themselves as educators and

transformation from a teacher to leader identity. *Guiding Mentorship* included participants speaking about the heart and mind of mentorship and leadership, what it is they value, feel, and believe to be true. This connects to Illeris's (2014) work on transformative learning theory and identity. Participants spoke of adopting humanist and guiding values, more than core values, shaped by their supportive relationships with mentors. Principals' influential mentors had three main functions: encouraging, enhancing, and empowering them to reach their full potential. These results suggest servant leadership can support leadership efficacy through a transformative relationship between mentor and mentee.

A servant leaders' belief in the intrinsic value of each individual is central to empowering mentees. According to Greenleaf (1998), empowerment includes: acknowledging, recognizing, believing in, and supporting the learning possibilities of those you serve. Mentoring in a servant leadership style led to believing in and encouraging mentees, demonstrating and humbly enhancing the mentees' skills, and empowering by building capacity and developing participants' belief in their ability to lead. The results contribute to a picture of what *good* mentorship looks like, addressing a gap in the literature suggested by Grissom & Harrington (2010). Chopin (2013) supports the positive impact of mentors believing in mentees. Regardless of mentorship function, the quality of the relationship contributes to higher self-efficacy amongst aspiring new leaders (Chopin, 2013).

Servant leadership is important in mentoring relationships because, by definition, the mentees' needs are the focus, and the mentor supports and empowers the mentee to grow in their abilities (Greenleaf, 1977). Mentoring in a servant leadership style has been effective at inspiring, developing, and preparing teachers to become principals who then lead and mentor others authentically in the style of servant leadership. In K-12 educational leadership, recruiting

mentors with a servant leadership style into formal mentorship and leadership preparation programs may better support transitioning teacher leaders to principals. In my view, *servant leadership* could replace the term *guiding mentorship*. A guiding mentor demonstrates living their values authentically in how they support and come alongside mentees. Servant leadership in mentorship is absent in the literature surveyed on this theory. Still, the results of this research show that it is present in mentoring relationships and begins to furnish this gap in servant leadership theory and mentorship research.

What came through in the results was a collection of humanist values that have guided principals in their leadership. While only one principal spoke of having a core value that guided their leadership, others spoke of multiple and diverse values visible in their work. Ethics, empathy, serving others, altruism, humility, and responsibility were values described by Wintermute (2019) as connecting with humanism. This new literature was included to support the finding of principals' humanist values. Principals spoke of values guiding their leadership, particularly when engaging in difficult decisions and conversations. They also referenced values when describing who they were as leaders and included more than core values when describing their identity. For some, their core values acted as umbrellas that encapsulated other values and beliefs which guided their leadership. Servant leadership theory does not speak to the connection of values and humanism to identity. It may be that the marriage of servant leadership and identity transformation is the essence of a strong and influential mentoring relationship.

This research suggests that modeling, observation, and reflection influence leader identity. Principals did not consider identity development to be a function of mentorship but rather an unintended benefit that emerged within the mentoring relationship. The transformational element of identity development is currently not reflected in the theory of

servant leadership. While some leadership programs focus on identity (Carver, 2016), identity in mentorship programs for early career teachers is less prevalent. Inclusion of identity work early in one's career opens opportunities when one better understands who they are and what they believe.

Values coding infers "the *heart and mind* of an individual or group's worldview as to what is important, perceived as true, maintained as opinion, and felt strongly" (Saldana, 2011, p. 105). The evidence suggests that each participant mentors and leads with values that guide them in this work. Participants have been collecting values along the way, from early life experiences, throughout their journeys as teachers, and into leadership. While diverse and various values emerged in the interviews with participants, common to all was a collection of guiding values focused on care for the people they support in mentorship and leadership. Interestingly, the most important values to participants were those influential mentors and leaders demonstrated and instilled in them. This diversity of values amongst principals illuminates the diversity of identities needed and welcomed in K – 12 administration as leaders of learning communities.

Limitations

This research study had contributing factors that would impact generalizing the results. The limitations of this study were the small sample size and purposeful sampling of participants. This study was limited to four principals in one school district known to have experience with mentoring relationships. It is important to note that the results are not generalizable to mentoring relationships for non-principals and those working outside K-12 settings because of the small sample size and selection of participants who experienced this phenomenon.

A further limitation of this research study is that it took place in the time of COVID-19, a global pandemic that has long-reaching impacts on everyday life routines. Principals endured the

challenges and navigated the changes resulting from education in the time of a pandemic. This possibly influenced the participants of this study and the perceptions and experiences they thought to share at the time. Additionally, principals and vice-principals doing the work of leading in a pandemic had added pressure to their roles (Harris & Jones, 2020). Reflection of their practice and experiences during an extraordinary time may have altered their realities and influenced their perceptions of leading and mentoring. A possibility is that leading during a pandemic may have caused new or different values and components of their identities to emerge.

Implications and Recommendations

The findings in this study contribute to the literature surrounding mentorship, leadership, and identity development in K-12 education settings. The results are of importance as they offer insight into how to bring mentorship into school communities. It sheds light on the strength of informal mentoring relationships and how planning for elements of choice in formal mentorship programs could elevate relationship depth and subsequent influence on mentees. The findings add to the research qualities of *good* mentorship. A mentee who feels believed in, seen, and empowered is more likely to describe mentorship as powerful. These research findings speak to the relationship between mentorship and servant leadership, suggesting that mentoring based on the characteristics of a servant leader positively impacts educational leadership. Further, mentoring in a servant leadership style resulted in principals admiring and emulating the moral values of their mentors. This has implications for aspiring principals' leadership preparation.

Mentoring experiences focused on developing skills of enhancing and empowering others may be valuable.

The theories of servant leadership and transformative learning are understood differently for K-12 school systems. Mentorship and leadership interconnect and work together in a way

that elaborates on the existing model of servant leadership to include the transformation of a mentee's identity as they prepare for leadership. How values, attitudes, and beliefs intersected in this study suggests mentorship acts as a vehicle for this transformation of identity and argues for involvement in mentorship as valuable preparation for leadership. This has implications for the work of mentors and enhancing functions of mentorship to support identity development. The findings in this study raise a variety of intriguing questions for future research. There is more to learn about how mentors engage mentees in the work of identity development. What are the experiences of aspiring principals with Teacher Leader Academies or similar formal leadership preparation programs? Future studies may extend the current findings by examining particular initiatives focused on exploring identity, such as district book studies and collaborations with education consultants. Further questions emerged in this research, such as: How can schools provide informal mentorship and collective responsibility for the growth of all teachers?; How would principals who identify with other leadership styles view mentorship?; and How do principals view mentoring and coaching, and do they see mentoring as part of their role?

Recommendations:

- Developing and supporting mentoring communities within schools and making strong mentorship more readily available to all teachers.
- Focusing on mentor-mentee pairings in formal mentorship programs or teacher leader preparation programs to allow for self-selection of mentors and mentees.
- Explicitly leading teachers and principals through identity work as part of professional development and collaborative inquiry with colleagues.
- Promote and support mentoring as preparation for formal leadership.

 Enrich informal mentorship opportunities for teachers and principals to build relationships and learn from multiple colleagues.

Possibilities

I found there to be a diversity in leadership and that the principals in this study all lived their leadership experiences differently. I thought there would be more uniformity in leaders' values and how they appear in their leadership. Participants in this study have experienced multiple and influential mentoring relationships along their way to formal leadership and while leading school communities. Strong relationships were an essential component in mentorship and leadership for principals in this study. Without question, trust was the most valuable quality of a mentoring relationship. This study has widened the landscape of mentorship and leadership possibilities for me. It is clear to me that mentoring and leading are more similar than different, and I now know there is no one way to be an effective leader. I discovered that there are authentic and diverse leaders in learning communities, and there is room for strengths and identifying with a range of values. This research revealed to me that within servant leadership, there can be diversity in what leaders value. I have come to learn that the beautiful thing about guiding mentors and servant leaders is humility, the desire for enhancing the lives and experiences of others, and genuinely caring and believing in a mentee's potential. If I were to move into a formal leadership role, I now more clearly see that who I am as a leader is a mentor. I would focus on my strengths that align with the qualities of servant leadership and my emerging leader identity to make visible my values as I work to serve and support. This study has transformed me into a teacher, mentor, and leader who thinks more critically and reflectively about my own mentoring relationships and emerging leader identity. This study has helped me more clearly see how trusting relationships and guiding mentorship can come together in schools

to create spaces that value community and authenticity, where leaders can stay true to who they are.

References

- Bengtson, E., Zepeda, S. J., & Parylo, O. (2013). School systems practices of controlling socialization during principal succession: Looking through the lens or organization socialization theory. *Educational Management Administration and Leadership*, 41(2), 143-164.
- Bertrand, L.A., Stader, D., & Copeland, S. (2018). Supporting new school leaders through mentoring. *School Leadership Review*, *13* (2), 82-94.
- Brinkmann, S., & Kvale, S. (2015). *InterViews: Learning the craft of qualitative research Interviewing* (3rd ed.). Sage.
- British Columbia Principals' and Vice Principals' Association (BCPVPA). (n.d.). *Mentorship*program. British Columbia Principals' and Vice Principals' Association: Representation,

 Advocacy and Leadership Development. https://bcpvpa.bc.ca/mentorship/
- Brown, B. (2010). The gifts of imperfection: Let go of who you think you're supposed to be and embrace who you are. Hazelden Publishing.
- Collins-Camargo, C., & Kelly, M. J. (2007). Supervisor as informal mentor: Promoting professional development in public child welfare. *The Clinical Supervisor*, 25(1-2), 127-146. doi:10.1300/j001v25n01_09
- Carver, C. L. (2016). Transforming identities: The transition from teacher to leader during teacher leader preparation. *Journal of Research on Leadership Education*, 11 (2), 158-180.
- Chopin, S.M., Danish, S.J., Seers, A., & Hook, J.N. (2013). Effects of mentoring on the development of leadership self-efficacy and political skill. *Journal of Leadership Studies* 6 (3), 17-32.

- Chval, K.B., Arbaugh, F., Lannin, J.K., van Garderen, D., Cummings, L., Estapa, A.T., & Huey, M.E. (2010). The transition from experienced teacher to mathematics coach: Establishing a new identity. *The Elementary School Journal*, *111*, 191-216.
- Clayton, J.K., Sanzo, K.L., & Myran, S. (2013). Understanding mentoring in leadership development: Perspectives of district administrators and aspiring leaders. *Journal of Research on Leadership Education* 8 (1), 77-96.
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2007). *Designing and conducting mixed methods* research. Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J.W., & Poth, C.N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. Sage Publications.
- Crippen, C. (2004). A safety net for new principals: Ten features. *Management in Education*, 18 (1), 18-23.
- Crippen, C., & Wallin, D. (2008). Manitoba superintendents: Mentoring and leadership. *Educational Management, Administration & Leadership*, 36(4), 546-565.
- Daloz, L. A. (1999). Mentor: Of effective teaching and mentoring. Jossey-Bass.
- Daresh, J.C. (2004). Mentoring school leaders: Professional promise or predictable problems? Journal of Educational Administration, 33(5), 7-16.
- Denzin, N.K., & Lincoln, Y.S., (2005). The discipline and practice of qualitative research. In N.K. Denzin & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research*, 3nd ed., 1-42. Sage.
- Donaldson, G.A. (2009). The lessons are in the leading. Educational Leadership, 66 (5), 14-18.
- Ehrich, L.C., Hansford, B., & Tennent, L. (2004). Formal mentoring programs in education and other professions: A review of the literature. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 40,

- 518-540.
- Fullan, M., & Hargreaves, A. (2000). Mentoring in the new millennium. *Theory into Practice*, *39*(1), 50-56.
- Government of British Columbia. (2020, December 4). *Covid-19 (Novel Coronavirus)*.

 https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/health/about-bc-s-health-care-system/office-of-the-provincial-health-officer/current-health-topics/covid-19-novel-coronavirus
- Greenleaf, R. K. (1977). Servant leadership: A journey into the nature of legitimate power and greatness. Paulist Press.
- Greenleaf, R. K. (1998). *The power of servant-leadership: Essays*. Berrett-Koehler Publishers.
- Grissom, J.A., & Harrington, J.R. (2010). Investing in administrator efficacy: An examination of professional development as a tool for enhancing principal effectiveness. *American Journal of Education*, 116(4), 583-612.
- Grogan, M., & Crow, G. (2004). Mentoring in the context of educational leadership preparation and development old wine in new bottles? Introduction to a special issue. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 40 (4), 463-467.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. InN. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research*, 105-117, Sage.
- Hansman, C. A. (2012). Empowerment in the faculty-student mentoring relationship. InS. J. Fletcher & C. A. Mullen (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook of mentoring and coaching in education* (368-382). Sage.
- Harris, A., & Jones, M. (2020). Covid-19 school leadership in disruptive times. *School Leadership & Management*, 40(4), 243-247.

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13632434.2020.1811479

- Held, M. B. E. (2019). Decolonizing research paradigms in the context of settler colonialism: An unsettling, mutual, and collaborative effort. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, p. 1-16.
- James, J. M., Rayner, A., & Bruno, J. (2015). Are you my mentor? New perspectives and research on informal mentorship. *Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 41(2015), 532-539.
- Illeris, K. (2014). Transformative Learning and Identity. *Journal of Transformative Education*, 12(2), 148–163. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541344614548423
- Jerdborg, S. (2020). Educating school leaders: Engaging in diverse orientations to leadership Practice. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 1-23.
- Lammert, C., DeWalt, L. M., & Wetzel, M. M. (2020). "Becoming" a mentor between reflective and evaluative discourses: A case study of identity development. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 96, 103179. 1-10
- Leiberman, A., & Friedrich, L. D. (2010). How teachers become leaders: Learning from practice and research. Teachers College Press.
- Lester, P.B., Hannah, S.T., Harms, P.D., Vogelgesang, G.R., & Avolio, B.J. (2011). Mentoring impact on leader efficacy development: A field experiment. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 10(3), 409-429.
- Malen, B., & Brown, T.M. (2020). What matters to mentees: Centering their voices. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning*, 28(4), 480-497.
- Mentoring Complete (2019, April 13). *Difference between informal and formal mentoring*.

 https://www.get.mentoringcomplete.com/blog/bid/90851/what-is-the-difference-between-informal-and-formal-mentoring

- Merriam, S.B., & Tisdell, E.J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Miles, M.B., Huberman, A.M., & Saldana, J. (2014). *Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook.* Sage.
- Palmer, P. (1998). *The courage to teach*: Exploring the inner landscape of a teacher's life. Jossey-Bass.
- Parfitt, C.M. (2017). Perceptions of succession planning in four Florida school districts: A mixed-methods study. *Southeast Journal of Educational Administration*, 17(2), 88-115.
- Parfitt, C.M., & Rose, A.L. (2020). Informal mentoring for aspiring school leaders: A phenomenological study. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning*, 1-17. http://doi.org/10.1080/13611267.2020.1778837
- Parris, D. L., & Peachey, J. W. (2013). A systematic literature review of servant leadership theory in organizational contexts. *Journal of Business Ethics* 113, 377-393.
- Pitard, J. (2017). A journey to the centre of self: Positioning the researcher in autoethnography.

 In Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 18(3), 1-20.
- Ragins, B.R. (2016). From the ordinary to the extraordinary: High-quality mentoring relationships at work. *Organizational Dynamics*, 45, 228-244.
- Reinke, S. J. (2004). Service before self: Towards a theory of servant leadership.

 Global Virtue Ethics Review (5) 3, 30-57.
- Safir, S. (2017). The listening leader. Jossey-Bass.
- Saldaña, J. (2011). Fundamentals of qualitative research. Oxford University Press.
- Scott, S. (2010). Pragmatic leadership development in Canada: Investigating a mentoring approach. *Professional Development in Education*, *36* (4), 563-579.

- Sharpe, K., & Nishimura, J. (2017). When mentoring meets coaching. Pearson Canada.
- Sherman, W. H. (2005). Preserving the status quo on renegotiating leadership: Women's experiences with a district-based aspiring leaders program. *Educational Administrative Quarterly*, 41, 707-740.
- Simons, S., Dole, S., & Farragher, Y. (2019). Custom-designed and safe-space coaching:

 Australian beginning principals supported by experienced peers form pipeline of
 confident future leaders. *School Leadership & Management*, 39 (2), 145-174.
- Simons, P.C. (2020). A case study of one principal's influence on developing teachers who became educational leaders in other settings. *Values and Ethics in Educational Administration*, 15(1), 1-9.
- Skinner, T. S. (2009). Exploration of barriers and solutions for women in the pathway to the high school principalship. Old Dominion University.
- Snape, D., & Spencer, L. (2003). The foundations of qualitative research. In J. Ritchie & J. Lewis (Eds.), *Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers*, 1-23. Sage.
- Van Dierendonck, D. (2011). Servant leadership: A review and synthesis. *Journal of Management*, 37 (4), 1228-1261.
- van Manen, M. (1990). Researching lived experience: Human science for an action sensitive pedagogy. State University of New York Press.
- van Manen, M. (2014). Phenomenology of practice: Meaning-giving methods in phenomenological research and writing. Left Coast Press.
- Wintermute, K. (2019). Living humanist values: The ten commitments. *The Humanist*, 79(5), 1-3, American Humanist Association.

- World Health Organization. (2020, October 12). *Coronavirus disease (COVID-19)*.

 World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/question-and-answers-hub/q-a-detail/coronavirus-disease-covid-19
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions:

 Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal of Education*, 48 (2), 311-325.
- York-Barr, J., & Duke, K. (2004). What do we know about teacher leadership? Findings from two decades of scholarship. *Review of Educational Research*, 74, 225-316.
- Zepeda, S.J. (2012). Professional development: What works. Eye on Education.
- Zepeda, S. J., Bengston, E., & Parylo, O. (2012). Examining the planning and management of principal succession. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 50(2), 136-158.

Appendix A

Ethics Approval

Research, Engagement, & Graduate Studies 33844 King Rd Abbotsford BC V2S 7M8 www.ufv.ca/research-ethics Tel: (604) 557-4011 Research.Ethics@ufv.ca Website:

Human Research Ethics Board - Certificate of Ethical Approval

HREB Protocol No: 100570

Principal Investigator: Mrs. Colleen Gregory

Team Members: Mrs. Colleen Gregory (Principal Investigator)

Dr. Mary Gene Saudelli (Supervisor)
Dr. Sheryl MacMath (Course Instructor)

Title: Mentoring Relationships and Identity Development in Elementary Principals

Department: Faculty of Professional Studies\Teacher Education

Effective: December 15, 2020 Expiry: December 14, 2021

The Human Research Ethics Board (HREB) has reviewed and approved the ethics of the above research. The HREB is constituted and operated in accordance with the requirements of the UFV Policy on Human Research Ethics and the current Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS2).

The approval is subject to the following conditions:

- 1. Approval is granted only for the research and purposes described in the application.
- 2. Approval is for one year. A Request for Renewal must be submitted 2-3 weeks before the above expiry date.
- 3. Modifications to the approved research must be submitted as an Amendment to be reviewed and approved by the HREB before the changes can be implemented. If the changes are substantial, a new request for approval must be sought. *An exception can be made where the change is necessary to eliminate an immediate risk to participant(s) (TPCS2 Article 6.15). Such changes may be implemented but must be reported to the HREB within 5 business days.
- 4. If an adverse incident occurs, an Adverse Incident Event form must be completed and submitted.
- 5. During the project period, the HREB must be notified of any issues that may have ethical implications.
- *NEW 6. A Final Report Event Form must be submitted to the HREB when the research is complete or terminated.
- **Please submit your Research Continuity Plan to REGS@ufv.ca before beginning your research. The plan can be found here: https://www.ufv.ca/research/

UFV Human Research Ethics Board

Appendix B

Interview Protocol

- 1. Tell me about a typical day or week as a principal? (What kinds of experiences or interactions typically occur in a day/week?)
- 2. What does mentorship mean to you?
- 3. Tell me about your experiences with mentoring relationships, formal or informal.
- 4. Which mentoring relationships were most influential in your preparation for leadership? What was it about these that were important or noteworthy?
- 5. Describe what you value as a principal. How has what you value emerged, changed, or remained constant since becoming a principal?
- 6. How would you describe your leader identity? (Who are you as a leader?)
- 7. How do you think your experiences with mentorship have shaped who you are as a leader?